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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF RHODE ISLAND 

 
 

PAULA BORRELLI 
 
 v. 
 
PREMIER ENTERTAINMENT II, LLC, 
D/B/A NEWPORT GRAND 
 

 
 
 C.A. No.  18- 
 
 
 

 
 

COMPLAINT 
 

1. This is an action for equitable and declaratory relief and for damages for sex and age 

discrimination in violation of the laws of the United States and the State of Rhode Island, 

including the Equal Pay Act, 29 U.S.C. §§201, 206(d), et seq., as amended (“EPA”), Title 

VII of the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. §2000e, et seq., as amended (“Title VII”), the Age 

Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. §621, et seq., as amended (“ADEA”), the 

Fair Employment Practices Act of Rhode Island, R.I.G.L. §28-5-1, et seq., as amended 

(“RI-FEPA”), the Rhode Island Act Prohibiting Wage Discrimination Based on Sex, 

R.I.G.L. §28-6-17, et seq., as amended (“RI-EPA”), and the Rhode Island Civil Rights Act, 

R.I.G.L. § 42-112-1, et seq., as amended (“RICRA”). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. The Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343 and 2201 and the exercise 

of its supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1367. 

3. Venue is properly lodged in the District of Rhode Island pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b). 

4. Plaintiff has taken the following administrative actions prior to suit: 

a. As to the RI-FEPA:  Plaintiff filed a claim of sex and age discrimination before the 

Commission for Human Rights of the State of Rhode Island, pursuant to the RI-
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FEPA, HRC #18 EAG 055-26/04, on or about July 5, 2017, was issued a Notice of 

Right to Sue thereon by said Commission dated June 29, 2018, Exhibit A hereto, 

and has timely instituted suit thereon. 

b. As to Title VII and the ADEA:  Plaintiff filed a claim of sex and age discrimination 

before the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission of the United States 

(“EEOC”), EEOC #16J-2017-00298, on or about July 5, 2017, pursuant to Title VII 

and the ADEA, was issued a Notice of Right to Sue thereon by the EEOC dated 

June 26, 2018, Exhibit B hereto, and has timely instituted suit thereon. 

5. Plaintiff has satisfied all administrative and/or jurisdictional prerequisites to suit. 

PLAINTIFF 
 

6. Plaintiff PAULA BORRELLI (“Plaintiff”) is a woman, who, at all times material hereto, 

is a citizen and resident of the State of Rhode Island and more than 40 years old. 

7. Plaintiff, at all times material hereto, and from 2007 continuing at the present, has been 

employed by the Defendant PREMIER ENTERTAINMENT II, LLC, D/B/A NEWPORT 

GRAND (“Defendant”), or its predecessor in operations at the “Newport Grand” Casino in 

Newport, Rhode Island. 

8. Upon information and belief, in her employment relationship with the Defendant, Plaintiff 

is:  

a. As to Title VII, an “employee” within the meaning of  42 U.S.C. §2000e(f); 

b. As to the ADEA, an “employee” within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §630(f); 

c. As to the EPA, an “employee” within the meaning of §203(e)(1); 

d. As to the RI-FEPA, an “employee” within the meaning of R.I.G.L. §28-5-6(7);  

e. As to the RI-EPA, an “employee” within the meaning of R.I.G.L. §28-6-17(b); 

Case 1:18-cv-00382   Document 1   Filed 07/11/18   Page 2 of 18 PageID #: 2



 

3 

f. As to RICRA, a “person” entitled to the protections of the Rhode Island Civil Rights 

Act, R.I.G.L. c. 42-112. 

DEFENDANT 

9. Defendant PREMIER ENTERTAINMENT II, LLC, D/B/A NEWPORT GRAND, is, upon 

information and belief, a limited liability company organized under the laws of the State 

of Delaware, with a place of business in Newport, Rhode Island, where it operates the 

Newport Grand casino under the fictitious names of “Newport Grand” and “Newport 

Grand Casino” (hereinafter “Newport Grand”).   

10. Upon information and belief, Defendant acquired the assets of the Newport Grand in or 

about 2015. 

11. Upon information and belief, Defendant continued the operations of its predecessor in 

operating the casino known as “Newport Grand,” including the employment of the 

employees of its predecessor, including the Plaintiff. 

12. Defendant, upon information and belief, is engaged in interstate commerce. 

13. Defendant, upon information and belief, employs 20 or more employees. 

14. Defendant, upon information and belief, is: 

a. As to Title VII, a “person” within the meaning of  42 U.S.C. §2000e(a), and an 

“employer” within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. §2000e(b), and subject to the 

provisions of Title VII in its employment of employees, including Plaintiff; 

b. As to the ADEA, a “person” within the meaning of  29 U.S.C. §630(a), and an 

“employer” within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §630(b), and subject to the provisions 

of the ADEA in its employment of employees, including Plaintiff; 

c. As to the EPA, a “person” within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §203(a) and an 
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“employer” within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §203(d) and subject to the provisions 

of the EPA in its employment of employees, including Plaintiff; 

d. As to the RI-FEPA, a “person” within the meaning of R.I.G.L. §28-5-6(14) and an 

“employer” within the meaning of R.I.G.L. §28-5-6(8)(i) of the RI-FEPA and 

subject to the provisions of the RI-FEPA in its employment of employees, including 

Plaintiff;  

e. As to the RI-EPA, an “employer” within the meaning of R.I.G.L. §28-6-17(c) and 

subject to the provisions of the RI-EPA in its employment of employees, including 

Plaintiff; 

f. As to RICRA, is subject to the requirements contained within the Rhode Island 

Civil Rights Act, R.I.G.L. c. 42-112, and subject to the provisions of RICRA in its 

employment of employees, including Plaintiff. 

STATEMENT OF CLAIM 
 

15. Plaintiff was hired by Defendant’s predecessor in operations in January 2007, as a 

“marketing rep.” 

16. In or about March 2007, Plaintiff was promoted to a position of supervisor of the “Rewards 

Department” and received a salary increase. 

17. In or about August 2008, Plaintiff was promoted to a position known as “floor supervisor” 

to serve as night Manager on Duty or “Night MOD” and, upon information and belief, 

received a salary increase to $36,400 per year. 

18. The position of Night MOD, at all times material hereto, is performed from 5:00 pm until 

closing of Newport Grand for the day. 

19. The job description for MOD, as adopted by the Defendant, is attached hereto and 
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incorporated herein as Exhibit C. 

20. At the time of Plaintiff’s appointment as Night MOD, another male employee 10 years 

younger than plaintiff, R. Spencer, also held the position of Night MOD. 

21. After Plaintiff completed a brief training period, Plaintiff and Spencer performed the same 

duties as Night MOD. 

22. The duties and responsibilities assigned to and performed by Spencer and Plaintiff as Night 

MOD are:  

a. identical and require equal skill, effort, and responsibility; 

b. performed in the same establishment; 

c. performed during the same time of day; 

d. performed under the same conditions. 

23. Upon information and belief, Spencer had performed the position of MOD since Night 

2006. 

24. Upon information and belief, comparing the amount paid to Spencer and Plaintiff in each 

year from 2008 to the present, Spencer has received a higher salary than Plaintiff as Night 

MOD in every year of Plaintiff’s employment. 

25. Upon information and belief, when Defendant assumed control of the operations of 

Newport Grand, it retained Plaintiff and Spencer as Night MODs on or about July 14, 2015, 

and made no changes to their then-current duties or then-current salaries.  Each was 

assigned the additional title of “VLT Manager.” 

26. On or about September 30, 2016, Defendant posted a vacancy in the position of MOD. 

27. Plaintiff did not apply for the newly-announced MOD position as she was already serving 

as an MOD. 
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28. In December 2016, at a meeting with Spencer, Plaintiff and N. Ahart, of Defendant’s 

Human Resources Division, Plaintiff discovered that Spencer’s annual salary as MOD was 

more than $4,000.00 higher than hers. 

29. Plaintiff immediately complained to Defendant that she should be paid as much as Spencer 

and requested a pay equity increase. 

30. Plaintiff was advised that her request was under review. 

31. Between December 2016 and May 2017, Plaintiff repeatedly inquired as to the status of 

her request for pay equity equivalent to Spencer. 

32. Upon information and belief, in or about January 2017, Defendant hired B. Smith, an 

external applicant, for a position called “Cage Manager.” 

33. Upon information and belief, at the time of her hire, Smith was more than 25 years younger 

than Plaintiff. 

34. Upon information and belief, Defendant started Smith as a new hire as Cage Manager at a 

starting salary of $45,000 per year. 

35. At the time of Smith’s appointment, Plaintiff was being paid $43,260 per year as Night 

MOD. 

36. Upon information and belief, at the time of Smith’s appointment, Spencer was being paid 

more than $47,500 per year as Night MOD. 

37. Upon information and belief, Defendant had not internally posted the position of Cage 

Manager before filling the position. 

38. The job description for Cage Manager is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit 

D. 

39. Upon information and belief, no specific salary was associated with the position of Cage 
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Manager. 

40. Upon information and belief, Smith had no experience in the casino industry or in the 

relevant position. 

41. At the time of Smith’s appointment, Plaintiff had more than 10 years’ experience in the 

casino industry and in the relevant position. 

42. Upon information and belief, the position of Cage Manager was a position designed to 

function at the casino to be established in Tiverton in 2018, more than one year in the 

future. 

43. Upon information and belief, until operations at Tiverton were to be established, the person 

performing the position of Cage Manager was intended to function as Night MOD at 

Newport Grand. 

44. Upon Smith’s appointment, Plaintiff and Spencer were assigned by Defendant to train  

Smith on the duties of Night MOD. 

45. In May 2017, Defendant informed Plaintiff that her request for increase in her 

compensation was rejected.  No explanation was provided. 

46. Upon information and belief, Defendant and its predecessor in operations have periodically 

provided salary increases in the form of percentage increases in salary to Plaintiff and 

Spencer for “cost of living” and/or “merit.” 

47. By conferring percentage salary adjustments to Plaintiff and Spencer, Defendant and its 

predecessor have over time perpetuated and increased the salary differential between 

Plaintiff and her younger male counterpart for performing the same position. 

48. Upon information and belief, Defendant has discriminated against Plaintiff on the basis of 

her sex in her compensation as Night MOD. 
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49. Upon information and belief, Defendant has discriminated against Plaintiff on the basis of 

her age in her compensation as Night MOD. 

50. Upon information and belief, Defendant has discriminated against Plaintiff on the basis of 

her age by creating and filling the position of Cage Manager with a younger person at a 

higher salary than Plaintiff notwithstanding Plaintiff’s qualifications and complaint 

seeking higher compensation.  

51. As a direct result whereof, Plaintiff has been denied substantial compensation during the 

course of her employment and continuing to the present, and has suffered personal injuries, 

including personal humiliation, embarrassment and distress. 

52. Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law. 

53. The actions of the Defendant support the imposition of punitive damages, in that: 

a. Upon information and belief, the actions of the Defendant were motivated by 

malice or ill will or involved reckless or callous indifference to Plaintiff’s rights. 

b. Upon information and belief, the actions of the Defendant rise to the level of 

willfulness, recklessness or wickedness, as to amount to criminality. 

Count I (Equal Pay Act) 
 

54. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 53 of the Complaint 

as if fully set forth herein. 

55. The actions of the Defendant as aforesaid constitute discrimination against Plaintiff in 

compensation in employment on the basis of sex in violation of the Equal Pay Act, 29 

U.S.C. §201, §206(d)(1), et seq., as amended. 
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56. The actions of the Defendant as aforesaid are “willful” and warrant the imposition of 

liquidated damages under §216(b) of the Fair Labor Standards Act, as applicable to the 

EPA. 

57. The actions of the Defendant as aforesaid are “willful” and warrant the recovery of lost 

wages and liquidated damages for a period of three (3) years prior to the commencement 

of this law suit under §255(a) of the Fair Labor Standards Act, as applicable to the EPA. 

Count II (Title VII of the Civil Rights Act) 
 

58. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 53 of the Complaint 

as if fully set forth herein. 

59. The actions of the Defendant as aforesaid constitute discrimination against Plaintiff in 

compensation in employment on the basis of sex in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights 

Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §2000e, et seq., as amended. 

Count III (Age Discrimination in Employment Act) 
 

60. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 53 of the Complaint 

as if fully set forth herein. 

61. The actions of the Defendant as aforesaid constitute discrimination against Plaintiff in 

employment on the basis of age in violation of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 

29 U.S.C. §621, et seq., as amended. 

62. The actions of the Defendant as aforesaid are “willful” and warrant the imposition of 

liquidated damages under 29 U.S.C. §626(b). 
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Count IV (Rhode Island Equal Pay Act) 
 

63. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 53 of the Complaint 

as if fully set forth herein. 

64. The actions of the Defendant as aforesaid constitute discrimination against Plaintiff in 

compensation in employment on the basis of sex in violation of the Rhode Island Act 

Prohibiting Wage Discrimination Based on Sex, R.I.G.L. §28-6-17, et seq., as amended. 

65. Under the RI-EPA, Plaintiff is entitled to recover her unpaid wages and an equal additional 

amount of liquidated damages pursuant to R.I.G.L. §28-6-20. 

Count V (Rhode Island Fair Employment Practices Act, sex discrimination) 
 

66. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 53 of the Complaint 

as if fully set forth herein. 

67. The actions of the Defendant as aforesaid constitute discrimination against Plaintiff in 

compensation for employment on the basis of sex in violation of the Fair Employment 

Practices Act of the State of Rhode Island, R.I.G.L. §28-5-7, et seq., as amended. 

Count VI (Rhode Island Fair Employment Practices Act, age discrimination) 
 

68. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 53 of the Complaint 

as if fully set forth herein. 

69. The actions of the Defendant as aforesaid constitute discrimination against Plaintiff in 

compensation and non-selection for employment on the basis of age in violation of the Fair 

Employment Practices Act of the State of Rhode Island, R.I.G.L. §28-5-7, et seq., as 

amended. 
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Count VII (Rhode Island Civil Rights Act, sex discrimination) 
 

70. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 53 of the Complaint 

as if fully set forth herein. 

71. The actions of the Defendant as aforesaid constitute discrimination against Plaintiff in 

compensation for employment on the basis of sex in violation of the of the Rhode Island 

Civil Rights Act of 1990, R.I.G.L. §42-112-1, et seq., as amended. 

Count VIII (Rhode Island Civil Rights Act, age discrimination) 
 

72. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 53 of the Complaint 

as if fully set forth herein. 

73. The actions of the Defendant as aforesaid constitute discrimination against Plaintiff in 

compensation and non-selection for employment on the basis of age in violation of the of 

the Rhode Island Civil Rights Act of 1990, R.I.G.L. §42-112-1, et seq., as amended. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully request that this Court enter judgment in her favor 

and against Defendant as follows: 

(1) Issue declaratory judgment in favor of Plaintiff and against the Defendant; 

(2) As to Plaintiff’s claims for discrimination on the basis of sex and/or age in compensation, 

order that Defendant pay Plaintiff the differential between what she was paid and the 

amount she would have received in the absence of sex and/or age discrimination, including 

but not limited to incremental increases, bonuses, and benefits, as well as an additional 

equal amount for liquidated damages where recoverable by law; 

(3) As to Plaintiff’s claim for discrimination in non-selection on the basis of age, order that 

Defendant appoint Plaintiff to the position of Cage Manager and pay Plaintiff the 

differential between what she was paid and the amount she would have received as Cage 
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Manager until such appointment is made, or front pay in lieu of appointment, including but 

not limited to incremental increases, bonuses, and benefits. 

(4) On all claims, award Plaintiff compensatory and punitive damages as allowed by law; 

(5) On all claims, award Plaintiff interest on all amounts so awarded as allowed by law; 

(6) Award Plaintiff the costs of the suit, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses; 
 
(7) Grant such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.  

 
JURY DEMAND 

 
PLAINTIFF HEREBY DEMANDS A TRIAL BY JURY.   

 
 

By her attorney, 
Cooperating counsel,  
AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION 
FOUNDATION OF RHODE ISLAND 
 
   /s/ Lynette Labinger____________    
Lynette Labinger  #1645 
128 Dorrance Street, Box 710 
Providence, RI 02903 
(401) 465-9565 
LL@labingerlaw.com 
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STATE OIì RHODE ISLAND
COMMISSION FOR HUMAN RIGHTS

zucHR NO.18 EAG 00s-26t04
In the matter of

EEOC NO. 1 6J-20 t7 -00298

Paula L. Bonelli
Complainant

Premier Entertainment II, LLC dlblaNewporl Grand
Respondent

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUE

This NOTICE OF RIGI{T TO SUE is issued to the above-cited complainant pursuant to Secrion
28-5-24.1(a) of the General Laws of Rhode Island because more than one hundred and twenty
(I20) days and less than two (2) years have eiapsed since the charge was filed, the Comrnission is
unabie to secure a settlement or conciliation agreement, the Commission has not commenced
hearings on a complaint and the complainant has requested a Right To Sue. With the issuance of
this NOTICE OF zuGHT TO SUE, the Cornmission is terminating any further processing of this
charge.

In the event that the above-cited matter ilrciudes allegations against individually-named
employees of a respondent employer under the Rhode Island Fair Employment Practices Act,
please note that recent Rhode Island Supreme Court decision in Mancini v. City of Providence,
2017 WI' 924178 (R.L Mar. 8,2017), held that employees of a respondent employer are not
individually liable under the Act. Please consult the decision and/or an attomey to detennine
how the decision affects this case. The decision also rnay be found at:

courts

This NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUE is issued at the complainant's request. If the complainant
intends to sue, S/HE MUST Do So WITHIN NiNETY (90) DAYS FROM THE DATE oF
THIS NOTICE: OTHERWISE THE RIGHT TO SUE IS I,OST.

On Behalf of the Commission

(t''
'7
l-

i
L'

I

Date Mi D
Executive Director

EXHIBIT A
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CERTIFICATION

I certify that on FrÍday, June 29,zOLg I sent out a NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUE
to Paula L. Borreili vs. Premier Entertainment II, LLC dlbla Newport Grand
RICHR NO. 18 EAG 005-26104 to the following persons:

Ms. Paula L. Borrelli

 
Narragansett, RI 02882

George Papanier, President
Premier Entertainment II, LLC
dlblaNewportGrand
15O Admiral Kalbfus Road
Newport, RI 02840

AIi Khorsand
Alder Pollock & Sheehan, P.C.
Agent for Service for
Premier Entertainment II, LLC
d lb I a Newport Grand
One Citizens Plaza, Bù Floor
Providence, RI 02903

Lynette Labinger, Esq
Attorney at Law
128 Dorrance Street
Box 710
Providence, RI O29O3

Zaida Rivera
Adminístrative Aide
Friday, June 29,2078
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EXHIBIT B
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EXHIBIT C
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EXHIBIT D
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